

Lysigenous Aerenchyma Development in Roots – Triggers and Cross-talks for a Cell Elimination Program

Dimitris L. Bouranis^{1*} • Styliani N. Chorianopoulou¹ • Vassilis F. Siyiannis¹ • Vassilis E. Protonotarios¹ • Malcolm J. Hawkesford²

¹ Plant Physiology Laboratory, Plant Biology Department, Faculty of Agricultural Biotechnology, Agricultural University of Athens, 75 Iera Odos, 11855 Athens, Greece ² Crop Performance and Improvement Division, Rothamsted Research, Harpenden, Herfordshire AL5 2JQ, UK

Corresponding author: * bouranis@aua.gr

ABSTRACT

Aerenchyma, the tissue containing enlarged gas spaces and surrounded by parenchymatous cells, is formed either as part of normal development or in response to hypoxia (oxygen shortage), mechanical impedance, high temperature, nitrogen-, phosphorus- and sulphur-deficiency. Focussed in the root cortex, some cells die to create a lacuna. The diverse stimuli induce a cell elimination program (CEP) result in the same endpoint: a lysigenous aerenchyma formation in the root cortex. CEP occurs as an orchestrated series of events, suggesting a genetically controlled process of active cell death, and can be distinguished in three major processes: the activation process, the execution process and the dissemination and termination process. It seems that perturbations in the energy and the redox status of specific cortex cell stimulate the activation process, which may include the enzymes NADPH oxidase, phospholipase D, protein kinase C, mitochondrial permeability transition pore, cytochrome c, haemoglobin, ACC synthase, ACC oxidase and mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade, as well as the molecules ATP, NADH, reactive oxygen species, calcium, phosphatidic acid, nitric oxide, 1-amino-cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC), and ethylene as CEP activators, organised in various signal transduction modules, while mitochondrion possess a key role in this part of CEP. The coordination of CEP activation modules results in the expression of CEP specific genes. Subsequently, the execution process, may include vacuolar processing enzyme and all the necessary hydrolytic enzymes including proteases, lipases, DNases, RNases, pectinases, cellulases, xyloglucan endo-trans glygosylase, expansins and γ -tonoplast intrinsic proteins as CEP executors and possibly again reactive oxygen species and peroxynitrite, with a key role of the lytic vacuole. Dissemination of CEP produces a tubular structure, the architecture of which is strongly affected by cell packing. Aerenchyma formation is a localised, site-specific CEP, the termination process of which determines the extent of the dissemination, to facilitate either an effective translocation of oxygen, carbon dioxide and ethylene or other gases, or to redirect scarce resources, or to provide a rapid diffusion path for solutes, within the root cortex.

Keywords: autophagy, ethylene, hydrogen peroxide, hypoxia, lacunae, lysigeny, nitric oxide, nutrient deficiency, programmed cell death Abbreviations: ACC, 1-amino-cyclopropane-1-carboxylate; ACO, ACC oxidase; ACS, ACC synthase; ADH, alcohol dehydrogenase; CEP, cell elimination program; ETR, ethylene receptor; Hb, haemoglobin; IS, intercellular spaces; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MTP, mitochondrial permeability transition pore; NOX, NADPH oxidase; OXI1, oxidative signal-inducible 1; PA, phosphatidic acid; PCD, programmed cell death; PLD, phospholipase D; ROP, Rho-related GTPase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SAM, S-adenosyl methionine; TIP, tonoplast intrinsic protein; VPE, vacuolar processing enzyme; XET, xyloglucan endo-*trans* glygosylase

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	128
THE ACTIVATION PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM	130
The energy status of the cell and its impact on the integrity of the plasma membrane	130
Induced alterations in the redox status of the cell and the role of the mitochondrion	131
The involvement of calcium ions	132
The phosphoinositide signal-transducing system	132
The nitric oxide and haemoglobin system	132
The role of ethylene	133
The ethylene receptor, other downstream players and possible cross-talks	133
Gene expression and the transition to the execution process	134
THE EXECUTION PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM	134
The executors	134
Events during execution	135
The role of the vacuole	135
The 1 st stage of the execution process – intact vacuole (Fig. 4A)	135
The 2 nd stage of the execution process – vacuole rupture (Fig. 4B)	135
Changes in the dying nucleus	136
TOWARDS CONFIGURING THE ARCHITECTURE OF AERENCHYMA – THE DISSEMINATION AND TERMINATION	
PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM	136
Location of CEP	136
Spread of CEP to the surrounding cells and its limitation	136
Variations in CEP execution	137
FUTURE PROSPECTS	137
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	137
REFERENCES	137

INTRODUCTION

Some parenchymatous tissues enclose enlarged spaces which exceed those commonly found as intercellular spaces (IS) and in connection with them construct longitudinal channels that pass between the cells. This network of usually gas-filled spaces is called aerenchyma and comprises a specialised tissue found in petioles, stems and roots, within various anatomical patterns of cellular configuration. There are several recent reviews that cover aerechyma formation by hypoxia (see Jackson and Armstrong 1999; Evans 2003; Visser and Voesenek 2004), while a brief history of the research on aerenchyma, its definition and types have been provided by Seago *et al.* (2005). The two main types of aerenchyma are lysigenous and schizogenous.

Schizogeny is a cell separation process that occurs through the separation of cells from each other in an early stage of development. Schizogenous aerenchyma is more often found in the stems and petioles of wetland plants and may also be found in roots. When found in a root, schizogenous aerenchyma seems a more or less constitutive feature and occurrence does not change in those roots that are already present at the onset of soil flooding. Instead new roots may develop that contain a larger amount of schizogenous aerenchyma (Laan *et al.* 1989; Visser *et al.* 1996).

Lysigeny is cell death through lysis. Lysigenous aerenchyma formation is a programmed process under developmental control, where specific parenchymatous cells are programmed to self-destruct, while the surrounding cells survive. This type is initiated by death of cortical cells, resulting in voids between the living cells that remain. Lysigenous aerenchyma is most abundant in roots and rhizomes, and may develop in both mature and in newly-developing roots (Thomson *et al.* 1990).

Programmed cell death (PCD) comprises a functional concept that refers to cell death as part of the normal life of a multicellular organism and includes activation and execution of an orchestrated series of degradation processes, which are under genetic control and lead to controlled disassembly of the cell. There are numerous examples of PCD during plant development that conform to the general definition (Greenberg 1996; Buckner *et al.* 1998; Drew *et al.* 2000; Samuilov *et al.* 2000; Kuriyama and Fukuda 2002; Dickman and Reed 2004; Evans 2004; Mittler and Shulaev 2004; Woltering 2004; Drury and Gallois 2006). PCD in plants also occurs in response to abiotic stresses. PCD that occurs during normal differentiation and as a result of abiotic stress is called 'developmental' (van Doorn and Woltering 2005).

Aerenchyma formation by lysigeny is a developmental PCD, which may be constitutive, requiring an internal stimulus, or inducible by abiotic stress. Many wetland plant species display aerenchyma in their roots even under well-aerated conditions (Justin and Armstrong 1987). In the wetland species rice (Jackson *et al.* 1985b; Kawai *et al.* 1998) and *Sagittaria lancifolia*, as well as in the maize relatives *Tripsacum dactyloides* and *Zea luxurians* (Drew *et al.* 2000), aerenchyma forms without any requirement for an external stimulus.

The ability to form lysigenous aerenchyma is widespread even among dryland vegetation. Many plant species can be induced to form aerenchyma structures, particularly when growing under flooded soil conditions. Aerenchyma formation is inducible by flooding in maize (Drew *et al.* 1979; He *et al.* 1994), in the coastal grass *Spartina patens* (Drew *et al.* 2000) and in many monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous native species that occupy wetland habitats (Justin and Armstrong 1987). Aerenchyma formation in crop species such as sunflower (Kawase 1979), bean, tomato (Kawase 1981), wheat (Huang *et al.* 1994; Wiengweera *et al.* 1997), barley (Larsen *et al.* 1986; Garthwaite *et al.* 2003), and *Trifolium subterraneum* (Aschi-Smiti *et al.* 2003) seems to be controlled by hypoxia and ethylene.

In addition to hypoxia (oxygen shortage), other known stresses that induce aerenchyma formation are mechanical impedance, high temperature, nitrogen-, phosphorus- and sulphur-deficiency. As soil compaction can lower the oxygen concentration of the soil, aerenchyma may be potentially beneficial for growth or function of roots in a densely packed soil layer. Mechanical impedance induces root aerenchyma formation and both mechanical impedance and hypoxia produce a synergistic effect. Furthermore, dissolved oxygen concentration lowers when temperature increases, and thus high temperature introduces oxygen shortage. Treatment in sand culture with low concentrations of nutrient solution increased root porosity of Nardus stricta plants to equally high levels as found in waterlogged plants (Smirnoff and Crawford 1983). Studies with maize later confirmed that both low concentrations of nitrate or phosphorus nutrition increased aerenchyma in the roots. These treatments induced the formation of aerenchyma close to the apex of the adventitious roots that subsequently emerged from the base of the shoot, a response similar to that shown previously to be induced by hypoxia (Konings and Verschuren 1980; Drew et al. 1989; Fan et al. 2003). Similarly, when young maize plants were grown in a complete, welloxygenated nutrient solution and then deprived of their external source of sulphate, the treatment induced the formation of aerenchyma in roots (Bouranis et al. 2003). Thus, Nor P- or S-deficiency leads to formation of aerenchyma in maize adventitious roots by lysis of cortical cells and aerenchyma seems to have an identical structure as that found in roots of waterlogged plants. Moreover, ethylene treatment produces aerenchyma artificially.

Aerenchyma is a functional tissue fulfilling a role in plants for the transport of various materials over large distances. Principally aerenchyma provides an internal aeration system for the transfer of oxygen from the shoot to the roots, contributing in this way to the ability of plants to tolerate low-oxygen soil environments. In addition, aerenchyma facilitates the counter-flow of other gases and volatile compounds accumulated in the anaerobic soil and plant tissues, such as carbon dioxide, methane and ethanol (Vartapetian and Jackson 1997; Subbaiah and Sachs 2003). IS are generally present in extrafascicular plant aerenchyma tissues and when aerenchyma is present it comprises a continuum with them. In water-saturated roots, cortical IS are usually gas-filled and comprise the predominant pathways for oxygen diffusion through plant organs, even where their volume fraction is small. In roots lacking aerenchyma, the resistance to oxygen movement in gas-filled IS is relatively large. For oxygenation over greater distances, aerenchyma is necessary and effective as determined by higher levels of ATP and adenylate energy charge, because it cuts back on the number of oxygen-consuming cells and lowers the resistance to gas diffusion or convection. Air-filled IS are necessary and ubiquitous in higher plants and the most likely mechanism by which these spaces are kept from being flooded is that the living plant cell may maintain a hydrophobic monolayer on the surfaces of adjacent intercellular spaces (Woolley 1983)

Liquid-filled lacunae may provide another rapid diffusion path, in addition to the cell wall apoplastic pathway. There is water in some lacunae of the aerenchyma, and in some of the normal IS in undamaged roots that are not waterlogged. This water may provide a radial path for rapid diffusion of ions across the cortex. Therefore, aerenchyma in these roots may function directly in plant water/ion relations, apart from their role in aeration of the root tissues. The formation of large spaces in the cortex eliminates a large part of the cellular pathway into the root but it does not seem to affect nutrient uptake. Therefore, aerenchyma can provide an additional mechanism which maintains ion movement across the cortex, and in the presence of aerenchyma the apoplast of the root cortexes comprises at least three distinct spaces: the cell-wall apoplast, the gas-filled aerenchyma and IS continuum and the liquid-filled one (for details see van der Weele et al. 1996 and Michael et al. 1999)

Moreover, stress adaptation includes redirection of



Fig. 1 The program of aerenchyma formation includes several processes and molecules. The first process in the pathway from the stimulus to lacunae is the activation of the Cell Elimination Program (CEP) and this cartoon presents a suggested hierarchy of the various players and the facts which lead to the expression of specific CEP specific genes. Several different stimuli (hypoxia, mechanical impedance, concrete nutrient deprivations) may result to a common condition (i.e. perturbations in ATP and NADH levels), thus triggering the same CEP. Then, the cell may survive or not and such a tentative turn point is presented. It seems that afterwards ethylene-dependent or –independent pathways may exist. ROS₁ and ROS₂ indicate two obviously different roles of ROS. It is most likely that in this process ROS₁ serve as signal while ROS₂ seem to contribute to the amplification of the lesion.

scarce resources to the maintenance of essential sinks, activation of adaptive pathways and disinvestment in non-essential sinks and pathways. Selective cell death reduces the demand for oxygen (Fan et al. 2003). Aerenchyma formation in phosphorus-deficient roots was disproportionately correlated with reduced root respiration; roots with 30% aerenchyma in the cortex presented 70% less respiration than roots without aerenchyma, while aerenchyma formation was proportionally correlated with reduced root phosphorus concentration. Variation in aerenchyma formation was correlated with root respiration and phosphorus concentration, regardless of whether variation was caused genetically or by ethylene or phosphorus treatments. These results support the hypothesis that aerenchyma formation reduces the respiratory and phosphorus requirements of soil exploration by roots, thus representing a useful adaptation to low phosphorus availability. Combined with the assumption that cell components are being resorbed during cell lysis, this would imply a lower investment of construction and maintenance costs per unit root length, which would in turn add to the capacity of the plant to explore the soil for sources of phosphorus (Fan et al. 2003).

Diverse stimuli induce PCD terminating to the same end result: lysigenous aerenchyma formation in the root cortex. Where do they converge and what is in common? Various signaling modules are implicated in stress signal transduction (see Xiong and Zhu 2001). Signaling modules as tranducers of the hypoxic signal for lysigenous aerenchyma formation include ethylene, G-protein, inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate, increase in cytosolic calcium concentration, calmodulin, protein kinase C and protein phosphatases (He et al. 1994, 1996a), however the full cascade of events as well as the exact place of each of these transducers in the cascade are not known. Drew et al. (2000) proposed an ethylene signal transduction pathway initiating cell death in cortical cells in maize roots. In this scenario, ethylene is the trigger of the cascade, however one might argue that the proposed cascade may act upstream of ethylene, thus activating the corresponding genes for ethylene production, and downstream of ethylene a MAPK cascade might be in charge to activate the genes for the production of hydrolytic enzymes for cell death. The role of ethylene as a regulator of aerenchyma formation in inducible systems has been studied extensively (Jackson et al. 1985a; Drew et al. 1989; He et al. 1992, 1996a, 1996b; Gunawardena et al. 2001). An important question in ethylene controlled aerenchyma formation is how the signal of lower oxygen availability is transduced into ethylene biosynthesis and Evans (2003) remarks that the signal transduction pathway between hypoxia and ethylene biosynthesis remains to be fully investigated. On the other hand, there are cases of aerenchyma formation which are independent of ethylene (Jackson et al. 1985b). It is obvious that the same end is produced by different cascades of signalling modules.

The different internal or external signals direct the cell to prepare for death and processing of remains. To this end, plant cells must first acquire the competency to trigger death; thereafter these specific cells address the death pro-

Fig. 2 The expression of CEP specific genes provides a whole arsenal of degradation enzymes and the second process in the pathway from the stimulus to lacunae is the execution of the CEP through autophagy and lysis. It is apparent that two stages of autophagy take place and the rupture of the tonoplast is of key importance. This second process culminates in the formation of the first lacuna.

Fig. 3 Aerenchyma is a tubular structure. After the formation of the first lacuna sequential or parallel execution of a group of cortex cells takes place and dissemination and termination of CEP is needed, resulting in aerenchyma development. The lesion spreads to the surrounding cells and is subject to limitation. The extent of aerenchyma formation caused by the various stimuli is not of the same intensity or architecture. Cell packing is an important parameter for aerenchyma development and various CEP patterns have been distinguished. Except its role as an internal aeration system, aerenchyma may serve also other roles.

cess autonomously. Such a cell elimination program (CEP) can be distinguished into three major processes: the activation process (**Fig. 1**), the execution process (**Fig. 2**) and the dissemination and termination process (**Fig. 3**). For each of these processes, we review the possible involvement of other modules that may be involved in the cascade of events, in addition to those known to lead to aerenchyma formation.

THE ACTIVATION PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM

The sequence of events which activate the CEP includes

varrious enzymes and effectors, organised in interacting modules. The energy status and the redox status of the cell seem to be the key factors for the activation of the CEP.

The energy status of the cell and its impact on the integrity of the plasma membrane

There is a relationship between the energy status of plant cells under oxygen stress and the maintenance of membrane intactness, studied mostly in suspension cultures of anoxiaintolerant potato cells. There appears to be a threshold in ATP production rate, below which membrane lipids are hydrolysed. During energy shortage, *de novo* lipid synthesis is still possible however desaturation is impossible, leading to loss of membrane fluidity (Rawyler et al. 2002). The preservation of cell structure and function by restoring a 'normal' respiratory activity with pyruvate (Aubert et al. 1996) points to a peculiar role of the mitochondria in situations of energy shortage. ATP is required to preserve cytoplasmic ion homeostasis, especially with respect to calcium ions (Bush 1995). When cells are deprived of oxygen, the mitochondrial ATP-synthase begins to hydrolyse part of the glycolytically produced ATP in an attempt to maintain the mitochondrial proton motive force (St-Pierre et al. 2000). Under anoxia, ATP availability triggers the transition between membrane intactness and disruption (Rawyler et al. 2002). Thus, it is likely that under hypoxic conditions energy shortage and perturbed membrane structure may activate membrane proteins which integrate stress.

The plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase is involved in the regulation of plant growth and development controlling the chemical potential of plant cells and nutrient transport. Plasma membrane ATPase activity is lipid dependent: delipidation of the plasma membrane reduces the ATPase activity, and addition of lipids recovers the inhibition and increases the ATPase specific activity. While lipids are needed to maintain membrane bilayer structure, changes in membrane lipid composition can also affect enzyme conformation and aggregation state in the lipid bilayer (Chen and Boss 1991).

It seems likely that the stresses leading to aerenchyma formation result in a depletion of ATP, perhaps due to fast uncoupled electron transport. A decline in mitochondrial respiration triggers an increase in NADH and a drop in ATP level. Oxidative stress can cause uncoupling between respiration and generation of ATP, and coupled with calcium influx such depletion of ATP can be sufficient to induce CEP.

Induced alterations in the redox status of the cell and the role of the mitochondrion

It has been recognised that ROS, especially hydrogen peroxide, have a major role in cellular signalling pathways, across a wide range of organisms, including plants (reviewed by Neill et al. 2002; Foyer and Noctor 2005a). ROS can be generated in plants via the leakage of electrons from mitochondria, or can be synthesized by a variety of dedicated enzymes, such as peroxidases and NADPH oxidases (NOX) (Neill et al. 2002). Once produced, ROS can partake in signalling, although these events will be modulated by the complement of antioxidants in or around the cell. PCD may be controlled, in part, by ROS (Desikan et al. 1998). Sulphate deprivation resulted in alterations of ROS, calcium levels and pH in aerenchymatous sectors of maize roots compared with the basal non-aerenchymatous region. ROS appeared in groups of intact mid-cortex cells and formation of superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide were found in degenerating cells of the mid-cortex (Bouranis et al. 2003, 2006).

NOX is a multicomponent enzyme composed of several membrane-bound and cytosolic subunits, which catalyses the NADPH-dependent production of the superoxide anion. Although superoxide anions can be a by-product of metabolic processes such as respiration, NOX is believed to be a key enzyme for the stimulus-induced release of ROS and becomes active when its cytosolic subunits translocate to the membrane (Sang et al. 2001). One of the cytosolic subunits is of the Rac type, a G protein. Rac may play a role in regulating ROS formation and cell death. Moreover, one of the two plasma membrane proteins contains calcium binding motifs, which suggests that the NADP oxidase complex may be regulated by calcium, a common feature of PCD (Keller et al. 1998). H₂O₂ production by the combination of a plasma membrane NOX system and a plasma membrane superoxide dismutase may be integrated to trigger CEP.

ROPs (Rho-related GTPases from plants) trigger H_2O_2 production and hence the oxidative burst, most likely by activating NOX (Agrawal et al. 2003). ROPs are a class of plant proteins that are closely related to the mammalian Rac family, among which Rac2 is a key regulator of NOX. The ROP monomeric GTPase modulates the induction of ADH1 in Arabidopsis seedlings (Baxter-Burrell et al. 2002, 2003). Based on findings with Arabidopsis, it was proposed that a ROP GTPase rheostat promotes ethanolic fermentation when active, and conserves carbohydrates when inactive (Fukao and Bailey-Serres 2004). The ROP family proteins activate and repress signalling cascades that control diverse mechanisms in plant cells (Gu et al. 2004). ROP activation is necessary to promote ADH1 induction, but moderation and reversibility of ROP signalling is an additional prerequisite for survival of transient hypoxia. A consequence of ROP activation is the induction of H_2O_2 accumulation. ROS production is a necessary component of a low oxygen signalling pathway. However, negative regulation of the signalling is necessary to avoid oxidative stress (Baxter-Burrell et al. 2002; Fukao and Bailey-Serres 2004). These findings support the hypothesis that rheostat-like regulation of ROP activity mediates temporal activation of an H₂O₂dependent signalling pathway that leads to ADH1 expression. The importance of the production and amelioration of ROS in the response of plant cells to oxygen deprivation was recognized prior to the elucidation of the ROP rheostat (Blokhina et al. 2003). For a detailed analysis see Bailey-Serres and Chang (2005).

For proteins to perceive the presence of ROS, such as H_2O_2 , and to act as signal intermediaries, there needs to be a specific recognition of H₂O₂ by the protein, or a direct chemical interaction which leads to signal propagation. The former is unlikely, owing to the small size of H_2O_2 , but the latter is likely as the oxidising nature of H₂O₂ will allow it to modify thiol residues in proteins directly, as has been suggested (Cooper et al. 2002; Vranová et al. 2002; Foyer and Noctor 2005b), although other amino acids may be able to be oxidised too, such as Tyr, Trp, and His (Dröge 2002). As numerous cellular and extracellular proteins will be potential targets for this type of oxidative modification, the ROS sensors must have some specific characteristics that enable them to propagate this signal. Therefore, Hancock et al. (2006) propose that thiol modification is a key to H_2O_2 perception and describe how the oxidised nature of H_2O_2 allows it to modify thiol residues in proteins directly.

A brief pulse of a high concentration of H₂O₂, or a continuous generation of low concentrations of H₂O₂, cause amplification of H₂O₂ production by the mitochondria through fast uncoupled electron transport (Tiwari et al. 2002). Mitochondria constitute a source of ROS and they can amplify the superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide levels inside the cell (Tiwari et al. 2002). It has been suggested that they may act as an integrator of cellular conditions from different stimuli (Lam et al. 1999; Jones 2000). Generation of ROS by mitochondrial respiratory chain is a physiological and continuous process. Under normal conditions, toxic effects of ROS are removed by antioxidant systems. Under abiotic stress the concentration of ROS in the cells can rise significantly, reaching a threshold that can trigger CEP (Lamb and Dixon 1997). Thus, in terms of CEP initiation, attention has shifted towards the mitochondrion and the release of cytochrome c as a potential trigger of CEP (Yu et al. 2002). Beyond a certain threshold, mitochondria activate CEP in a number of ways: (a) at the level of substrate import into the mitochondria (Hautecler et al. 1994), (b) at the level of substrate oxidation and electron transport (Moore et al. 1991), (c) by the control over oxidative phosphorylation (Kesseler et al. 1992), (d) by regulation of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MTP) (Kroemer 1997; Green and Reed 1998), (e) by the upregulation of the alternative oxidase, thus diverting the electron flow (Day and Wiskich 1995).

Alterations in a MTP will lead to profound changes in mitochondrial functioning. According to Jones (2000), MTP forms as a complex with the voltage-dependent anion channel and the adenine nucleotide translocator, permits

water to move into the matrix and protects the mitochondria from the loss of electrochemical potential for protons by preventing nonspecific transfer of solutes of less than 1.5 kDa (Tiwari et al. 2002). This complex has been proposed as a sensor of cellular stress. Jones (2000) has suggested that opening of MTPs leads to translocation of cytochrome c from the mitochondria to the cytosol. Outer mitochondrial membrane rupturing occurs when the inner membrane swells. Situations that lead to the release of cytochrome c include oxidative stresses that induce MTP formation, stresses on electron transport and a rise in calcium levels. Release of cytochrome c to the cytoplasm activates CEP. Thus, when cells are unable to maintain metabolic homeostasis and the stresses overwhelm the cell, the mitochondria release cytochrome c triggering cell elimination. Furthermore, the release of cytochrome c leads to a second ROS generation. Cytochrome c is a candidate for ROS attack (Hancock et al. 2001, 2003). It may be oxidised by H₂O₂, but it may be reduced by superoxide anions, and therefore cytochrome c may exist in a reduced state, or an oxidised state, depending on which ROS is most prevalent in the cell. Additionally it has been shown that the structure of the protein, and therefore its potential ability to signal is determined by its oxidation state (Calver et al. 1997).

The involvement of calcium ions

The H₂O₂ signal can also be transmitted through alterations in calcium ion fluxes and cellular redox state. Both calcium and redox alterations are very early events that follow the rises in H₂O₂ levels (Rentel and Knight 2004). There may be a connection between ROP-promoted H₂O₂ production and the hypoxia-induced increase in cytosolic calcium. An interaction between ROP signalling and calcium is supported (Bailey-Serres and Chang 2005). An increase in cytosolic calcium is a likely prerequisite for the activation of apoplastic H₂O₂ production by the calcium-dependent NOX (Keller et al. 1998; Sagi and Fluhr 2001). In Arabidopsis roots, ROS produced by this oxidase activates calcium channels and facilitates calcium flux(es) necessary for root growth (Foreman et al. 2003; Mori and Schroeder 2004). Moreover, Arabidopsis ROP1 is responsible for an intracellular calcium gradient at the tip of root hairs (Jones et al. 2002). These observations lead to the speculation that ROP may further promote an increase in cytosolic calcium under hypoxic conditions, which could be mediated by NOX, possibly located at the plasma membrane. Thus, calcium dynamics may provide a balance between production of H_2O_2 as a signalling molecule and the damage it can cause as a ROS.

ROS are generated by mitochondria during their normal activities and at the same time mitochondria are sensitive to ROS. Oxidative stress triggers MTP-opening directly and possible also indirectly via elevated calcium levels. Under conditions where ATP pools are low, calcium is the fundamental MTP-activator and there appears to be a dependency between ROS and calcium activation of MTP (Petronilli et al. 1994; Kowaltowski et al. 1996; Scorrano et al. 1997; Crompton 1999). Inhibition of electron transport (including that by nitric oxide) reduces ATP pools, elevates ROS pools and under conditions of elevated calcium opens the pore, because at high calcium levels cytochrome c is released (Jones 2000). In this way, the mitochodrial responses can be regulated by calcium influx from the cytosol. Calcium influx into mitochondria is regulated by different stimuli via changes in membrane potential (Silva et al. 1992). For example H₂O₂ causes calcium influx (Fortes et al. 2001). The regulation of calcium levels in the different subcellular compartments is closely linked (Wendehenne et al. 2004). There is a tight regulatory network that links ROS generation and calcium fluxes, both of which are involved in control of PCD and it is suggested that both stimuli are involved in the same cell death pathway. It seems that an increase in intracellular calcium concentration is necessary for cell death and the resulting

aerenchyma development in roots of maize subjected to hypoxia. ROS can also induce MPT in a calcium-independent manner (Fortes *et al.* 2001).

A specific calcium signature can lead to various downstream effects, including cell death, through the numerous calcium-interacting proteins, including calmodulins and the family of calcium-dependent protein kinases (Harper et al. 2004). Plants possess a unique set of calcium/calmodulinregulated proteins with different biological functions. Although some of these proteins, such as NAD kinase, aid in the production of H_2O_2 and enhance cell death (Harding et al. 1997), others like catalase have the opposite effect (Yang and Poovaiah 2002). Catalase is of paramount importance for regulating H₂O₂ homeostasis, as it can function as a cellular sink for H_2O_2 . Catalase deficiency leads to an elevation of H₂O₂ levels and a triggering of PCD (Gechev et al. 2004; Vandenabeele et al. 2004). Calcium is therefore not only essential for PCD, but also for maintaining H₂O₂ levels that ensure cell survival (Yang and Poovaiah 2002). In addition to calcium/calmodulin, catalase activity may also be modulated by nucleoside diphosphate kinase (NDK). This notion is suggested by the observations that transgenic plants overexpressing AtNDK1 exhibited enhanced ability to detoxify H_2O_2 (Fukamatsu *et al.* 2003). For details on the role of calcium in signal transduction, see Sanders et al. (2002) and Lecourieux et al. (2006).

The phosphoinositide signal-transducing system

NOX is a likely target of phospholipase D (PLD) activation, and phosphatidic acid (PA) plays a role in stimulating the NADPH-dependent production of superoxide (Sang et al. 2001). A PA-specific protein kinase mediates the activation of NOX (Waite et al. 1997; McPhail et al. 1999). In addition to NOX, PLD has been identified as an important early signalling enzyme, because activation of PLD generates signalling messengers and is involved in a wide range of cellular processes, including hormone action (Fan et al. 1997; Lee et al. 1998; Jacob et al. 1999). PLD hydrolyses phospholipids to produce PA, which serves as a second messenger that may activate phosphatidylinositol 5-kinase, phospholipase C and protein kinase C. The cellular activity of plant PLD is regulated by calcium (Zheng et al. 2000), polyphosphoinositides (Qin et al. 1997), G-proteins (Munnik et al. 1995; Ritchie and Gilroy 2000), pH-changes (Pappan and Wang 1999) and membrane perturbation (Pappan et al. 1998). PLD is a major family of phospholipases and all characterised plant PLDs contain the C2 domain, which is a calcium-phospholipid-binding site, making calcium an important regulator (Wang 2005). PLD mRNA and enzyme activity are stimulated by hypoxia.

The nitric oxide and haemoglobin system

Nitric oxide (NO) is often produced at the same time and in the same locations in plants as ROS and, like ROS, NO is involved in a plethora of responses and functions (reviewed by Neill *et al.* 2003). Of particular note here is that NO may also react with thiol groups on proteins in a process known as S-nitrosylation, to yield a -S-NO group. It has been found that many of the proteins found are also those which are potentially modified by H_2O_2 (Lindermayr *et al.* 2005). It is likely that NO and H_2O_2 may be covalently altering and potentially controlling the same complement of proteins in cells: there may be a competition between H_2O_2 and NO at the level of thiol modification which may determine the exact signalling processes that ensue (Hancock *et al.* 2006).

NO levels may cause the following: (i) NO forms peroxynitrite after reaction with superoxide anions (ii) NO can release calcium by nitrosylation of the calcium channel and therefore the nitrosylation of calcium channel can potentially induce MTP formation (iii) NO reduces ATP by the inhibition of electron transport, another requisite for MTP formation. Modulation of NO levels can lead to significant changes in hormonal responses (Wendehenne *et al.* 2004). Both promotive and inhibitory effects on NO upon ethylene generation in plants have been demonstrated (Leshem *et al.* 1998; Leshem and Pinchasov 2000; Sozzi *et al.* 2003). NO may advance CEP, individually or in combination with ethylene, MAP kinases (Capone *et al.* 2004; Pagnussat *et al.* 2004), the guanylate cyclase (Wendehenne *et al.* 2004) or the ADP-ribosyl cyclase (Igamberdiev *et al.* 2005).

A decline in mitochondrial respiration triggers an increase in NADH and a drop in ATP levels. According to Igamberdiev *et al.* (2005), the drop in ATP levels results in activation of nitrate reductase leading to production of NO and in haemoglobin (Hb) gene expression. NO reacts with the oxygenated form of newly synthesized Hb (class 1) and is oxidised back to nitrate. With this reaction the accumulated NADH is oxidised and the Hb/NO cycle comprises a NO-scavenging system, linked to ATP levels, the modulation of which results in maintenance of the energy and redox status of the cell and the prevention of cell death.

Hbs encompass functions that include the reversible binding of gaseous ligands and the ability to bind other cellular molecules (Arredondo-Peter et al. 1998). With respect to aerenchyma, alfalfa roots overexpressing class 1 barley Hb exposed hypoxic conditions for several hours show no sign of aerenchyma development, whereas control roots and roots underexpressing Hb showed evidence of cell disruption (Dordas et al. 2003a). Suppressing Hb expression in maize cell suspensions resulted in elevated ethylene formation (Manac'h-Little et al. 2005). This indicates a potential role for Hb in regulating ethylene levels in the cell. In maize cell suspensions, both ethylene and NO levels increase when Hb expression is impaired. In this case, NO appears to have a promoting effect on ethylene biosynthesis. Decreasing the levels of NO in the cell by overexpressing Hb (Dordas et al. 2003b, 2004; Igamberdiev et al. 2004; Igamberdiev and Hill 2004) may directly or indirectly turn off the signal, triggering the activation of ethylene biosynthesis. This may indicate participation of Hb in an acclimation response to low oxygen stress, regulating the levels of NO and ethylene, delaying aerenchyma formation. There is also the possibility that a selective expression of Hb in root cells may regulate the process of aerenchyma formation via direct effects of NO on programmed cell death.

The role of ethylene

Ethylene is a growth regulator that has received significant attention in the studies of low oxygen responses, the biosynthesis of which is mediated by two key enzymes in higher plants. 1-amino-cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) synthase (ACS) catalyses the formation of ACC from SAM. The second step in the hormone biosynthesis is the oxidation of ACC to ethylene by ACC oxidase (ACO). Ethylene biosynthesis increases within 4 h of transfer to hypoxic conditions in several species (Drew et al. 1979; Lorbiecke and Sauter 1999). In arabidopsis, phosphorylation of ACS by the stress-responsive MAP kinase (MAPK) 6 leads to the accumulation of ACS protein (Liu and Zhang 2004). Consequently, levels of cellular ACS activity and ethylene production are elevated. It is not known if a MAPK signalling pathway is activated by oxygen deprivation (Bailey-Serres and Chang 2005). The biosynthesis of ethylene is not likely to occur under strict cellular anoxia because the conversion of ACC to ethylene by ACO requires consumption of oxygen (Yang and Hoffman 1984; Kende 1993). Ethylene enhanced the hypoxic induction of ADH1 in Arabidopsis (Peng et al. 2001).

Cell death in maize root cortex during hypoxia is not caused directly by oxygen deficiency. The involvement of ethylene in aerenchyma formation is well documented for maize roots, in the cortical cells of which aerenchyma forms by CEP, and this process appears to be regulated by ethylene. ACS and ACO are both encoded by a multigene family which can be induced under various conditions (Grichko and Glick 2001). Hypoxia stimulates the activities of ACS and ACO in the apical zone of intact roots following a lag of some hours and ethylene production is accelerated under these conditions. As a result, hypoxic root tips contain higher concentrations of ACC and higher concentrations of ethylene than normoxic ones. It is still not known whether the relatively rapid increase in the activity of enzymes involved in ethylene biosynthesis is a result of the activation of pre-existing enzymes, or if there are changes in the transcript level of the corresponding genes. Mechanical impedance also increases the activities of ACS and ACO (He et al. 1996b). On the other hand, activity of ACS is not stimulated in the apical zone of intact roots by anoxia, while ACO requires molecular oxygen to convert ACC to ethylene. Thus, ethylene synthesis is depressed and aerenchyma formation cannot take place under anoxia (Drew et al. 1979; Jackson et al. 1985a; He et al. 1994). Treatment of anoxic roots with exogenous ethylene fails to elicit aerenchyma formation (Jackson et al. 1985a).

The induction of aerenchyma in adventitious roots of *Zea mays* by N- or P-deprivation is not due to an enhanced biosynthesis and/or accumulation of ethylene in the root tips (Drew *et al.* 1989). The conversion of SAM to ACC is inhibited or modified somehow by nutrient deprivation and activities of ACS and ACO are depressed by N- or P-deprivation, while in both deficiencies the sensitivity of cortical cells to ethylene is enhanced, causing lysis of cells in the presence of very low concentrations of the gas (Drew *et al.* 1989; He *et al.* 1992). Ethylene sensitivity of P- and N-deprived plants may serve a different goal, e.g. a change in root topology or the formation of root hairs instead of aerenchyma formation *per se* (Visser and Voesenek 2004).

Under normoxic conditions, i.e. in well-oxygenated complete nutrient solution, low concentrations of ethylene (0.1-1.0 μ L L⁻¹ air bubbled through the nutrient solution) readily induce aerenchyma formation in the cortex of maize adventitious roots, precisely among those cells that would succumb to hypoxia. The structure of these roots was indistinguishable from the structure induced by hypoxia (Drew *et al.* 1979; Konings 1982). Inhibitors of ethylene biosynthesis or ethylene action block aerenchyma formation in hypoxic roots (Drew *et al.* 1980; Konings 1982; Jackson *et al.* 1985a), whereas in ethylene-treated normoxic roots only inhibitors of ethylene action are effective (Jackson *et al.* 1985a).

SAM is precursor for the ethylene biosynthetic pathway, and participates in the formation of spermidine and spermine. The possibility that the additional ethylene production by hypoxic maize adventitious roots resulted from decreases in spermidine and spermine has been tested and no decreases in spermidine and spermine have been found in root tissue up to 4 d of treatment. Removing oxygen completely had little effect on spermidine and spermine concentrations (Jackson and Hall 1993). Hypoxia increased the concentration of putrescine, the precursor of spermidine and spermine. This increase was not a response to the extra ethylene formed by such roots, since ethylene treatment did not reproduce the effect. Application of inhibitors of putrescine biosynthesis led to increased aerenchyma formation. Exogenous putrescine inhibited the development of aerenchyma while stimulating rather than inhibiting ethylene production, when tested in either air or hypoxia. Thus, putrescine appears to limit aerenchyma formation by suppressing ethylene action rather than its production (Jackson and Hall 1993).

The ethylene receptor, other downstream players and possible cross-talks

Data from *Arabidopsis* show that proteins involved in ethylene signalling, including histidine kinases, are induced by the addition of H_2O_2 (Desikan *et al.* 2001). A study on the histidine kinase receptor ETR1 from *Arabidopsis* showed that it was essential for H_2O_2 perception leading to stomatal closure (Desikan *et al.* 2005). Using mutants that lacked

either histidine kinase activity, or the complete histidine kinase domain of ETR1, indicated that the kinase domain was not required for H_2O_2 signalling. In its other role as an ethylene receptor, it appears that the presence of the histidine kinase domain of ETR1 is required (Gamble *et al.* 2002), suggesting that the signalling through ETR1 invoked by H_2O_2 is different from that invoked by the presence of ethylene.

According to Raz and Flur (1993), the ethylene signal is transduced via protein phosphorylation events. The H_2O_2 signal can also be transmitted through the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) cascade network (Gechev and Hille 2005). The MAPK pathways are intracellular signal modules that mediate signal transduction from the cell surface to the nucleus (Robinson and Cobb 1997; Xiong and Zhu 2001). The core MAPK cascades consist of $\overline{3}$ kinases that are adenylated sequentially by an upstream kinase. The activated MAPK can then either migrate to the nucleus to activate transcription factor directly, or activate additional signal components to regulate gene expression, cytoskeleton-associated proteins or enzyme activities, or target certain signal proteins for degradation. The specificity is realised by scaffold proteins that hold these kinases or by a specific component in the signalling cascade (Xiong and Zhu 2001). Plants possess an unusually high number of MAPKs, and the kinase network can be a convergence as well as a divergence point for different stress factors (Ichimura 2002). Several types of protein kinases have been shown to be activated in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. To establish that ROS do in fact have a role in signal transduction in plants, the impact of the addition of ROS to cells on the activity of signalling proteins has been investigated. Exogenously added H2O2 has been shown to lead to the activation of MAPKs. Biochemical evidence indicated that a MAPK cascade is responsible for relaying the H_2O_2 signal, much like in other eukaryotes (Kovtun *et* al. 2000). The recent identification of the serine/threonine kinase, oxidative signal-inducible 1 (OXI1), as an essential component in H₂O₂ signalling in Arabidopsis provided new insights into the complexity and specificity of the H₂O₂-relaying kinase network (Rentel et al. 2004). OXI1 has been shown to be up-stream of the MAPKs and is needed for full activation of two stress related MAPKs (Rentel et al. 2004). In addition to protein kinases, tyrosine phosphatases have been shown to be inactivated by hydrogen peroxide in mammals. Phosphatases may be involved in H₂O₂ signalling in plants also: the Arabidopsis protein phosphatase 2C enzymes ABI1 and ABI2 and the protein tyrosine phosphatase AtPTP1 have been suggested to play such a role. AtPTP1 regulates the activity of MAPKs, suggesting a tight link between H₂O₂, kinases and phosphatases (Hancock et al. 2006).

Gene expression and the transition to the execution process

The CEP activation phase terminates in the induction of gene expression of the CEP executing enzymes and effectors. This delimits the start of the next phase, that of CEP execution. One of the most well-recognised cellular effects of ROS is the alteration of gene expression. H₂O₂derived signals initiate global changes in gene expression through regulation of a specific subset of transcription factors and, as a result of those changes, different genetic programs including PCD are executed (Gechev and Hille 2005). In Arabidopsis, a transcriptomic study found approximately 170 genes for which the expression was increased more than 2-fold by application of exogenous H_2O_2 , and approximately 65 genes having their expression reduced (Desikan *et al.* 2001). Furthermore in tobacco, several transcription factors have been identified whose expression is regulated by H_2O_2 (Vandenabeele *et al.* 2003). It is possible that these transcription factors are also direct targets for redox modification by H₂O₂ and there is clearly more work to be done in this area (Hancock et al. 2006).

ROS produced in different subcellular compartments influence the expression of a large number of genes (Neill et al. 2002). This suggests that cells have evolved strategies to utilize ROS as biological signals that control various genetic stress programs. This interpretation is based on the unstated assumption that a given ROS can interact selectively with a target molecule that perceives the increase of ROS concentration, and then translates this information into a change of gene expression. Such a change in transcriptional activity may be achieved through the oxidation of components of signalling pathways that subsequently activate transcription factors or by modifying a redox-sensitive transcription factor directly. The effects of ROS on components of the MAPK cascade result in the indirect activation of transcription factors (Laloi et al. 2004). The activation of the MAPK cascade may be initiated by redox-controlled protein tyrosine phosphatases.

THE EXECUTION PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM

The executors

The execution of CEP is a complex degradation process accomplished by a suite of enzymes, which are distinguished from those that are involved in the signaling of cell death. Vacuolar processing enzyme, proteases, lipases and other esterases, DNases, RNases, and cell-wall degrading enzymes are involved in the degradation process. Several genes encoding hydrolases that are up-regulated are common to all plant PCDs, whereas some genes are unique to each type of preparation for death. Differences in the profiles of the nascent hydrolases might account for the underlying differences in corpse removal (Jones 2000).

The various hydrolytic enzymes which are synthesized for active degeneration of cellular contents are thought to accumulate in the vacuole to sequester them from the cytoplasm. Maturation or activation of vacuolar proteins requires a vacuolar processing enzyme (VPE), a plant caspase (i.e. a cysteine protease that exhibits caspases-1 activity) (Hatsugai *et al.* 2004). VPE is not a cytosolic enzyme (Kinoshita *et al.* 1999) and in addition to the initial activation of some of the hydrolytic vacuolar enzymes, VPE may also mediate the disruption of the vacuolar membrane. VPE deficiency suppresses vacuolar collapse leading to cell death (Hatsugai *et al.* 2004); thus, VPE triggers the vacuolar system in plants, functioning as a key molecule in vacuolar-collapse-triggered cell death: a regulator of CEP (Hara-Nishimura *et al.* 2005).

Proteolytic activity is a centerpiece of CEP which incorporates a specific proteolytic program. Plants are equipped with a large proteolytic machinery that irreversibly regulates the fate of proteins. Such a machinery serves to remove non-functional proteins and to release their amino acids for recycling (van der Hoorn and Jones 2004). This protein breakdown is mediated by different proteolytic systems associated with vacuolar, nuclear, cytosolic and organellar compartments. Serine-, cysteine-, aspartic- and metallo-proteases can be distinguished among the endopeptidases by the use of inhibitors. In *Trifolium subterraneum*, root aerenchyma development following hypoxia correlated with a change in protease composition and may point to the expression of a specific set of lysis-involved protease genes (Aschi-Smiti *et al.* 2003).

CEP incorporates a combination of cell wall degrading enzymes, including expansins, cellulases, xyloglucan endotransglycosylases (XET), and pectinases (Jackson and Armstrong 1999), for a step-wise degradation of the cell-wall components, to facilitate the resorption of their structural units. Hypoxia (or nitrogen deficiency or high ethylene concentrations) enhances cellulase activity in the apical zone, but not in the older zones of the same roots. Increased cellulase activity is always tightly coupled to CEP leading to aerenchyma formation. Cellulase activity in hypoxic maize root tips increases immediately before aerenchyma is detectable. Cellulase is induced by ethylene and its activity increases following an increase in ACC synthase activity (He et al. 1994). Treatment of normoxic roots with promoters of CEP results in increase of cellulase activity, while after treatment of hypoxic roots with inhibitors of CEP, cellulase activity remains at normoxic levels (He et al. 1996a). XET is a putative cell wall loosening enzyme associated with CEP (Saab and Sachs 1996). In maize, a flooding-induced and ethylene responsive XET homologue has been shown to be associated with aerenchyma formation (He et al. 1994; Sachs et al. 1996). The induction of the floodinginduced gene xet1 appears to be specific to hypoxia, since it is not induced by other stresses. Hypoxia induces xet1 in the primary root, mesocotyl, and coleoptile of maize seedlings and this induction of xet1 by hypoxia is associated with aerenchyma development (Peschke and Sachs 1994; Saab and Sachs 1995, 1996). XET1 transcription is induced by ethylene and by exogenous ethylene under aerobic conditions (Saab and Sachs 1996).

Events during execution

CEP is characterised by a distinct set of morphological features, including compaction and shrinkage of the cytoplasm and nucleus, and DNA and nuclear fragmentation. Campbell and Drew (1983) have examined the ultrastructure of cortical cells in maize root tips during the early stages of lysigenous aerenchyma formation, promoted by oxygendeficient nutrient solution, while Gunawardena et al. (2001) have described the series of events during the execution of CEP in hypoxic and ethylene treated maize roots. According to the results of Gunawardena et al. (2001), cleavage of DNA occurred at a very early stage of aerenchyma formation, preceding ultrastructurally detectable changes. The first detectable events in the cells of the cortex were in the cytoplasm: in the earlier stages of CEP plasma membrane invagination, a more electron-opaque cytoplasm and shrinkage of the plasma membrane from the cell wall were observed in cells not showing DNA condensation. This was rapidly followed by the appearance of granular staining of the vacuolar contents, together with organelles surrounded by a membrane in the vacuole. Numerous vesicles beneath the plasma membrane were apparent. Chromatin condensation was first observed at the end of this stage, in cells in which cytoplasmic changes were already evident. It appeared that nuclear condensation follows at least some of the cytoplasmic changes noted. Further changes in the cytoplasm followed detection of condensed chromatin. Cytoplasmic changes at this stage included retention of organelles. Mitochondria in hypoxic roots appeared structurally compact with some membrane damage. Plasmodesmata between cortical cells showing cell death became very prominent. Membrane bound bodies containing intact organelles were evident; these bodies enclosed intact mitochondria and Golgi bodies and other inclusions. Different sizes of membrane-bound bodies occurred, containing a variety of material, the formation of which was induced by hypoxia or ethylene treatment, suggesting that this is an integral part of PCD in aerenchyma formation.

The role of the vacuole

Vacuoles have been proposed to be responsible for various types of plant PCD. As plants do not have macrophages, plant cells must degrade their materials by themselves. To do this, plants have evolved a death strategy that is mediated by a vacuolar system. Within the vacuole the accumulation of hydrolytic enzymes (including proteases, DNases and RNases) occurs and rapture of the tonoplast releases the store of hydrolytic enzymes into the cytoplasm. CEP incorporates the upregulation of a variety of vacuolar hydrolytic enzymes (Fukuda 2004).

Plant cells may contain different vacuoles, some of which have storage or digestive functions whereas others may have other functions, for example pigment-containing vacuoles (Jauh et al. 1998). The vacuolar system in plant cells has been shown to consist of different compartments characterised by the presence of specific tonoplast intrinsic proteins (TIPs): α-TIP has been associated with protein storage vacuoles (Johnson et al. 1989; di Sansebastiano et al. 2001), while γ -TIPs have been found in lytic or degradative vacuoles (Paris et al. 1996; di Sansebastiano et al. 2001). The formation and evolution of single vacuoles in plant cells is a complex phenomenon, because different vacuoles can fuse and change the characteristics of their contents as well as their tonoplasts (Jauh et al. 1998, 1999; Flückiger et al. 2003). In the PCD process occurring during aerenchyma formation, tonoplast disruption is suggested to play a critical role. The collapse of the vacuole is an irreversible step to execute the degradation of various organelles (Fukuda 1996; Groover and Jones 1999; Kuriyama 1999). Once the vacuole ruptures, nucleic acids in the nucleus are degraded rapidly. Tonoplast rupture is a key feature of CEP execution, dividing the process into two stages.

The 1st stage of the execution process – intact vacuole (Fig. 4A)

Lysigenous aerenchyma development is a process of the autophagic type. Autophagy is a major degradation and recycling system in eukaryotic cells. This system contributes to the turnover of cellular components by delivering portions of the cytoplasm to lysosomal vacuoles where they are digested (Klionsky and Emr 2000). Proteases, lipases, and various hydrolases are synthesized or activated during the process. Autophagy entails the formation of autophagosome, a double-membrane structure which engulfs part of the cytoplasm, with or without large organelles, and then merges with a lysosomal vacuole (Yoshimori 2004). Autophagy saves the tissue from death and is a mechanism whereby the cell degrades or mobilises its constituents before death. At this stage of CEP the vacuole increases in size until only a small layer of cytoplasm remains. The process usually starts with the disappearance of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the attached ribosomes, followed by the other organelles. Concomitantly, the various organelles disappear until the cytoplasm is virtually devoid of structure. A few mitochondria and the nucleus tend to be the last organelles to be degraded (van Doorn and Woltering 2005).

The 2nd stage of the execution process – vacuole rupture (Fig. 4B)

At this stage, autophagy continues by permeabilization and rupture of the tonoplast. Organelle digestion follows and finally the plasma membrane collapses. The loss of tonoplast integrity has been identified as an early event of aerenchyma development (Campbell and Drew 1983; Kozela and Regan 2003), the subsequent rapid disappearance of the cellular contents has been observed in PCD during aerenchyma formation and tonoplast rupture has been considered as a prerequisite for the final stages of degradation in the nucleus (van Doorn and Woltering 2005). The disruption of the tonoplast and the subsequent release of the sequestered hydrolases appears to be a common feature of plant PCD (Jones 2000). In addition to the release of the vacuolar hydrolytic enzymes, the liberation of the acidic vacuolar sap causes sudden cytoplasmic acidosis which might be sufficient to kill the selected cell. The vacuolar hydrolytic enzymes attack the remaining organelles and nuclear DNA, degrading whatever is left in the cell and leading to cell death (Hara-Nishimura et al. 2005; van Doorn and Woltering 2005). The cell elimination process also involves complete disappearance of the cell walls in the aerenchyma formation process. The result of this stage is the complete removal of the corpse (Jones 2000). Obviously, this leaves the cellular content as a collection of low molecular mass solutes to be absorbed by surrounding cells. In rice and maize roots, cells in the mid-cortex that are the first to die, are also the first to show signs of acidosis as detected by

Fig. 4 Images show different early stages of autophagy processes in nitrate-deprived maize root cells in the transmission electron microscope. Samples were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde, post-fixed with 2% osmium tetroxide and embedded in Agar 100 epoxy resin. Bars = 1 μ m. (A) Cells of the root tip showing a nucleus (N), mitochondria (M) and plastids (P) in the cytosol. Within the large vacuole (V) remnants of organelles can be found (arrow). (B) Cells 1 cm from root tip, showing large vacuoles (V) with a ruptured tonoplast (arrows) and the cytoplasm condensed at the cell walls (CW). Within the loosened cytosol mitochondria (M), a plastid (P) and a large nucleus (N), which appears flattened at the cell periphery, can be found. IS=intercellular space. Images were obtained in co-operation with Bernd Zechmann and Maria Müller (Institute of Plant Sciences, University of Graz).

neutral-red staining (Kawai et al. 1998; Drew et al. 2000).

Changes in the dying nucleus

Slightly before tonoplast rupture, the nucleus appears flattened at the cell periphery, and this is presumed to be caused by the pressure exerted on it by the intact vacuole. Just after vacuole collapse, the nucleus assumes a morespherical shape, indicating a release of vacuolar pressure. A gradual decrease in nuclear staining is noticed after vacuole rupture (Obara *et al.* 2001). DNA degradation is a hallmark of PCD and apart from protoplast shrinkage, DNA fragmentation is also documented in dying cells (Mittler and Lam 1995). Use of the TUNEL technique suggested internucleosomal cleavage of DNA. Nucleic acid degradation is presumed to occur via the release of endonucleases previously contained within the vacuole (Obara *et al.* 2001). Chromatin condensation to the nuclear periphery is typical of PCD (Gunawardena *et al.* 2001).

PCD that has been detected in roots of many species in the Poaceae family (including wheat, barley and maize) is characterised by a loss of nuclear staining with acridine orange. The symptom coincides with the loss of both membrane permeability and esterase activity, with fluorescein diacetate as a substrate (Drew *et al.* 2000). Very few nuclei in the cortex of the root tip of S-starved root fluoresced, after treatment with acridine orange, being shrunken and near to the cell wall (Bouranis *et al.* 2003). Chromatin condensation detectable by electron microscopy follows cytoplasmic changes including plasma membrane invagination and the formation of vesicles. Later, cellular condensation of chromatin and the presence of intact organelles surrounded by membrane resembling apoptotic bodies have been observed. All these events were completed before cell wall degradation was apparent (Gunawardena *et al.* 2001).

TOWARDS CONFIGURING THE ARCHITECTURE OF AERENCHYMA – THE DISSEMINATION AND TERMINATION PROCESS OF THE CELL ELIMINATION PROGRAM

Location of CEP

Cell death begins at a specific cell position near the root tip. The cells for elimination are located at the centre of the cortical tissues (mid cortex) and cell elimination never takes place at peripheral cortical cells. In maize, the epidermis, hypodermis, endodermis and stele are unaffected. The location of cells undergoing lysis appears to be precise, indicating the existence of a targeting mechanism for initiating the first cell death (Campbell and Drew 1983; Seago *et al.* 2005; Bouranis *et al.* 2006), and CEP constitutes a mechanism activated at a specific time and in a specific tissue that includes coordination between adjacent cells, with a highly localized pattern in the root cortex (Drew *et al.* 2000; Jones 2001; Evans 2003).

Aerenchyma develops more frequently and more extensively where cells are packed cubically and preferentially where the pre-aerenchyma packing of cells in the cortex is radial in transverse section, which is the pattern found in many wetland species, rendering cell packing as an important parameter for aerenchyma development (Justin and Armstrong 1987). Cell packing has a marked influence on whether schizogenous or lysigenous aerenchyma forms or not. By contrast, aerenchyma rarely occurs where there is non-radial, hexagonal packing, which is chiefly found in non-wetland species, or in the outer cortical layers that do not participate in aerenchyma formation in typical wetland species (Drew *et al.* 2000).

Spread of CEP to the surrounding cells and its limitation

Aerenchyma is a tubular structure, which does not develop secondary cell wall (Kozela and Regan 2003). The execution of the CEP culminates in the complete removal of the cell content and the creation of the first lacuna. After that, coordinated CEP of adjacent cells takes place, resulting in the creation of large intercellular aerenchyma tissue. Such a progressive development of lacunae creates the rather irregularly shaped functional tissue of cortical aerenchyma. The central point of the mechanism is that there are specific cells which are subject to lysis, while the surrounding cells do not die. The cells which remain unaffected by the lytical process in the cortex are still capable of metabolic activity, forming radial bridges immediately adjacent to lysing cells. The reason of this immunity of cells is still unknown. Therefore, an important aspect of aerenchyma development is the limitation of the spread of the CEP execution. It seems likely that there are differences in the sensitivity of the cells to the stimuli initiating CEP or in the response pathways present for subsequent events (Evans 2003) or the death signal which diffuses symplastically from the initiating cells to the remainder of the cortex in the direction that most plasmodesmatal connections occur in roots (Drew et al. 2000). Candidates CEP transmitters may be diffusible molecules such as ethylene, hydrogen peroxide and NO (Corpas et al. 2001). Moreover, the underexpression of Hb (class 1) genes and the presence or the induction of the formation of lytic vacuoles characterised by γ -TIPs may be candidate characteristics of the target cells.

Furthermore in many species, primarily the tangential cell walls are affected, whereas the majority of radial walls remain intact (e.g. in the Poaceae); conversely, in the Juncaceae and Cyperaceae, most tangential walls remain, while a large portion of the radial walls disappear (Smirnoff and Crawford 1983). This directional targeting of cells and cell-wall material requires a very specific distribution of signals, and/or of the sensitivities to these signals.

In the root cortex of maize, rice and *Saggitaria* under hypoxia, CEP is first detected at a distance of one centimeter or less from the root apical meristem, in the zone where cell elongation has just been completed (Campbell and Drew 1983; Kawai *et al.* 1998). The created space becomes increasingly prominent in older zones behind the tip. The system of lacunae therefore develops simultaneously with the extension of the root; however the presence of a developing lateral root seems to inhibit cell break-down (Campbell and Drew 1983; Bouranis *et al.* 2006). However aerenchyma in maize adventitious roots induced in sulphate-deprived and well-aerated nutrient solution, were found in the cortex of 77% of the root length, particularly in the region of emerging or developing lateral roots (Bouranis *et al.* 2006). The basal and apical root sectors had no aerenchyma and no aerenchyma connection was found with the shoot (Bouranis *et al.* 2006), while cell walls of endodermis of S-deprived adventitious maize roots increased 68% in thickness (Bouranis *et al.* 2003).

Variations in CEP execution

Within aerenchyma types, there is a large variation in the exact configuration of the cells and cell remnants. The processes of aerenchyma formation differ in rice and maize with regard to the order in which events occur. In maize roots, cellular collapse was preceded by the loss of tonoplast integrity (Campbell and Drew 1983), while the pattern of cell death and lysis in maize aerenchyma formation begins in the mid-cortex but unlike rice, spreads tangentially as well as radially (Setter et al. 1997; Kawai et al. 1998). However, in rice, the middle lamella degenerated, and this was followed by cell wall disintegration and the loss of tonoplast integrity (Webb and Jackson 1986). The aerenchyma of rice roots is rapidly formed as an integral part of ordinary root development (Webb and Armstrong 1983; Jackson et al. 1985b). A detailed review on the differences among the general patterns of aerenchyma origin and their systematic distributions among the flowering plants is available (see Seago et al. 2005), providing the basis for further examination of CEP variations.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Despite the accumulating literature on all aspects of aerenchyma formation and the progress that has been made on the functionality of the known signal transduction modules, there remains a series of open questions that require explanation at the molecular level. What characterises the constitutive aerenchyma formation? How are ACC synthase and ACC oxidase activated during the progress of CEP, and what are the alternative pathways for ethylene-independent CEP? What characterises the target cells, and why is aerenchyma formation restricted to cortical cells only? What is the complete catalogue of CEP execution enzymes and their mode of action?

How is CEP transmitted to the neighbouring cells? Are there symplastic or apoplastic CEP transmitters? What limits the extent of CEP dissemination and how do neighbouring cells remain unaffected? Why is cell packing of a certain type needed? Why does the presence of a developing lateral root inhibit cell breakdown? Why is there a specific targeting of collapse to tangential cell walls? Is there a specific spatial distribution of transporters and channels for the materials that are to be pumped out of the lacuna and how is this mechanism activated? As CEP for aerenchyma formation is not the same in all species, the exact signalling modules, transmitters and executors are needed to be clarified for each case.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. Bernd Zechmann and Dr. Maria Müller (Institute of Plant Sciences, University of Graz, Austria) for their significant contribution in obtaining the TEM images. Rothamsted Research receives grant-aided support from the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council of the UK.

REFERENCES

- Agrawal GK, Iwahashi H, Rakwal R (2003) Small GTPase 'Rop': molecular switch for plant defense responses. *FEBS Letters* 546, 173-180
- Arredondo-Peter R, Hargrove MS, Moran JF, Sarath G, Klucas RV (1998) Plant haemoglobins. *Plant Physiology* **118**, 1121-1125
- Aschi-Smiti S, Chaibi W, Brouquisse R, Ricard B, Saglio P (2003) Assessment of enzyme induction and aerenchyma formation as mechanisms for

flooding tolerance in *Trifolium subterraneum* "Park". Annals of Botany 91, 195-204

- Aubert S, Gout E, Bligny R, Marty-Mazars D, Barrieu F, Alabouvette J, Marty F, Douce R (1996) Ultrastructural and biochemical characterization of autophagy in higher plant cells subjected to carbon deprivation: control by the supply of mitochondria with respiratory substrates. *Journal of Cell Biology* 133, 1251-1263
- Bailey-Serres J, Chang R (2005) Sensing and signalling in response to oxygen deprivation in plants and other organisms. Annals of Botany 96, 507-518
- Baxter-Burrell A, Yang Z, Springer PS, Bailey-Serres J (2002) ROPGAP4dependent Rop GTPase rheostat controls of Arabidopsis oxygen deprivation tolerance. *Science* 296, 2026-2028
- Baxter-Burrell A, Chang R, Springer P, Bailey-Serres J (2003) Gene and enhancer trap transposable elements reveal oxygen deprivation regulated genes and their complex patterns of expression in Arabidopsis. *Annals of Botany* 91, 129-141
- Blokhina O, Virolainen E, Fagerstedt KV (2003) Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: a review. Annals of Botany 91, 179-194
- Bouranis DL, Chorianopoulou SN, Kollias C, Maniou P, Protonotarios VE, Siyiannis VF, Hawkesford MJ (2006) Dynamics of aerenchyma distribution in the cortex of sulfate-deprived adventitious roots of maize. *Annals of Bot*any 97, 695-704
- Bouranis DL, Chorianopoulou SN, Siyiannis VF, Protonotarios VE, Hawkesford MJ (2003) Aerenchyma formation in roots of maize during sulphate starvation. *Planta* 217, 382-391
- Buckner B, Janick-Buckner D, Gray J, Johal GS (1998) Cell-death mechanisms in maize. *Trends in Plant Science* **3**, 218-223
- Bush DS (1995) Calcium regulation in plant cells and its role in signaling. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 46, 95-122
- Calver JF, Hill JL, Dong A (1997) Redox-dependent conformational changes are common structural features of cytochrome c from various species. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 346, 287-293
- Campbell R, Drew MC (1983) Electron microscopy of gas space (aerenchyma formation) in adventitious roots of Zea mays L. subjected to oxygen shortage. Planta 157, 350-357
- Capone R, Tiwari BS, Levine A (2004) Rapid transmission of oxidative and nitrosative stress signals from roots to shoots in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 42, 425-428
- Chen Q, Boss WF (1991) Neomycin inhibits the phosphatidylinositol monophosphate and phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate stimulation of plasma membrane ATPase activity. *Plant Physiology* 96, 340-343
- Cooper C, Patel RP, Brookes PS, Darley-Usmar VM (2002) Nanotransducers in cellular redox signalling: modification of thiols by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. *Trends in Biochemical Science* 27, 489-492
- Corpas FJ, Barroso JB, del Rio LA (2001) Peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide signal molecules in plant cells. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, 145-150
- Crompton M (1999) The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *The Biochemical Journal* **341**, 233-249
- Day DA, Wiskich JT (1995) Regulation of alternative oxidase activity in higher plants. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes 27, 379-385
- Desikan R, Reynolds A, Hancock JT, Neill SJ (1998) Harpin and hydrogen peroxide both initiate programmed cell death but have differential effects on defence gene expression in *Arabidopsis* suspension cultures. *Biochemistry Journal* 330, 115-120
- Desikan R, A-H-Mackerness S, Hancock JT, Neill SJ (2001) Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress. *Plant Physiology* 127, 159-172
- Desikan R, Hancock JT, Bright J, Harrison J, Weir I, Hooley R, Neill SJ (2005) A role for ETR1 in hydrogen peroxide signaling in stomatal guard cells. *Plant Physiology* **137**, 831-834
- di Sansebastiano GP, Paris M, Marc-Martin S, Neuhaus JM (2001) Regeneration of a lytic central vacuole and of neutral peripheral vacuoles can be visualized by green fluorescent proteins targeted to either type of vacuoles. *Plant Physiology* **126**, 78-86
- Dickman MB, Reed JC (2004) Paradigms of programmed cell death in animals and plants. In: Gray J (Ed) Programmed Cell Death in Plants, Blackwell Publishing/CRC Press, Oxford/London, pp 26-41
- **Dordas C, Hasinoff B, Igamberdiev AU, Manac'h N, Rivoal J, Hill RD** (2003a) Expression of a stress-induced hemoglobin affects NO levels produced by alfalfa under hypoxic stress. *Plant Journal* **35**, 763-770
- Dordas C, Rivoal J, Hill RD (2003b) Plant haemoglobins, nitric oxide and hypoxic stress. Annals of Botany 91, 173-178
- Dordas C, Hasinoff BB, Rivoal J, Hill RD (2004) Class 1 hemoglobins, nitrate and NO levels in hypoxic maize cell suspension cultures. *Planta* 219, 66-72
- **Drew MC, Jackson MB, Giffard S** (1979) Ethylene-promoted adventitious rooting and development of cortical air spaces (aerenchyma) in roots may be adaptive response to flooding in *Zea mays* L. *Planta* **147**, 83-88
- Drew MC, Chamel A, Garrec JP, Fourcy A (1980) Cortical air spaces (aerenchyma) in roots of corn subjected to oxygen stress. Structure and influence on uptake and translocation of ⁸⁶Rubidium ions. *Plant Physiology* 65, 506-511
- Drew MC, He CJ, Morgan PW (1989) Decreased ethylene biosynthesis, and

induction of aerenchyma, by nitrogen- or phosphate- starvation in adventitious roots of Zea mays L. Plant Physiology 91, 266-271

- Drew MC, He CJ, Morgan PW (2000) Programmed cell death and aerenchyma formation in roots. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 123-127
- Dröge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiological Reviews 82, 47-95
- Drury GE, Gallois P (2006) Programmed cell death in plants and flowers. In: Teixeira da Silva (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1st Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, London, pp 141-156
- Evans DE (2003) Aerenchyma formation. New Phytologist 161, 35-49
- Evans DE (2004) Programmed cell death in response to abiotic stress. In: Gray J (Ed) Programmed Cell Death in Plants, Blackwell Publishing/CRC Press, Oxford/London, pp 194-212
- Fan L, Zheng S, Wang X (1997) Antisense suppression of phospholipase Dα retards abscisic acid- and ethylene-promoted senescence of postharvest Arabidopsis leaves. *The Plant Cell* 9, 2183-2196
- Fan M, Zhu J, Richards C, Brown KM, Lynch JP (2003) Physiological roles for aerenchyma in phosphorus-stressed roots. *Functional Plant Biology* 30, 493-506
- Flückiger R, de Caroli M, Piro G, Dalessandro G, Neuhaus JM, di Sansebastiano GP (2003) Vacuolar system distribution in Arabidopsis tissues, visualized using GFP fusion proteins. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 1577-1584
- Foreman J, Demidchik V, Bothwell JH, Mylona P, Miedema H, Torres MA, Linstead P, Costa S, Brownlee C, Jones JD, Davies JM, Dolan L (2003) Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. *Nature* 422, 442-446
- **Fortes F, Castilho RF, Catisti R, Carnieri EGS, Vercesi AE** (2001) Ca²⁺ induces a cyclosporin-A permeability transition pore in isolated potato tuber mitochondria mediated by reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* **33**, 43-51
- Foyer CH, Noctor G (2005a) Redox homeostasis and antioxidant signaling: a metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses. *The Plant Cell* **17**, 1866-1875
- Foyer CH, Noctor G (2005b) Oxidant and antioxidant signalling in plants: a re-evaluation of the concept of oxidative stress in a physiological context. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **28**, 1056-1071
- Fukamatsu Y, Yabe N, Hasunuma K (2003) Arabidopsis NDK1 is a component of ROS signaling by interacting with three catalases. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 44, 982-989
- Fukao T, Bailey-Serres J (2004) Hypoxia responses in plants a balancing act? Trends in Plant Science 9, 449-456
- Fukuda H (1996) Xylogenesis: initiation, progression and cell death. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 47, 299-325
- Fukuda H (2004) Signals that control plant vascular cell differentiation. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 5, 379-391
- Gamble RL, Qu X, Schaller GE (2002) Mutational analysis of the ethylene receptor ETR1. Role of the histidine kinase domain in dominant ethylene insensitivity. *Plant Physiology* **128**, 1428-1438
- Garthwaite AJ, von Bothmer R, Colmer TD (2003) Diversity in root aeration traits associated with waterlogging tolerance in the genus *Hordeum*. Functional Plant Biology 30, 875-889
- Gechev TS, Hille J (2005) Hydrogen peroxide as a signal controlling plant programmed cell death. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **168**, 17-20
- Gechev T, Gadjev I, Hille J (2004) An extensive microarray analysis of AALtoxin-induced cell death in *Arabidopsis thaliana* brings new insights into the complexity of programmed cell death in plants. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 61, 1185-1197
- Green DR, Reed JC (1998) Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science 281, 1309-1312
- Greenberg JT (1996) Programmed cell death: A way of life for plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 12094-12097
- Grichko VP, Glick BR (2001) Ethylene and flooding stress in plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **39**, 1-9
- Groover A, Jones AM (1999) Tracheary element differentiation uses a novel mechanism coordinating programmed cell death and secondary cell wall synthesis. *Plant Physiology* **119**, 375-384
- Gu Y, Wang Z, Yang Z (2004) RAC GTPase: an old new master regulator for plant signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 67, 527-536
- Gunawardena AHLAN, Pearce DM, Jackson MB, Hawes CR, Evans DE (2001) Characterisation of programmed cell death during aerenchyma formation induced by ethylene or hypoxia in roots of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Planta* 212, 205-214
- Hancock JT, Desikan R, Neill SJ (2001) Does the redox status of cytochrome c act as a fail-safe mechanism in the regulation of programmed cell death? *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine* **31**, 697-703
- Hancock JT, Desikan R, Neill SJ (2003) Cytochrome c, glutathione and the possible role of redox potentials in apoptosis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1010, 446-448
- Hancock J, Desikan R, Harrison J, Bright J, Hooley R, Neil S (2006) Doing the unexpected: proteins involved in hydrogen peroxide perception. *Journal* of Experimental Botany 57, 1711-1718

- Hara-Nishimura I, Hatsugai N, Nakaune S, Kuroyanagi M, Nishimura M (2005) Vacuolar processing enzyme, an executor of plant cell death. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **8**, 404-408
- Harding SA, Oh SH, Roberts DM (1997) Transgenic tobacco expressing a foreign calmodulin gene shows an enhanced production of active oxygen species. *The EMBO Journal* 16, 1137-1144
- Harper JF, Breton G, Harmon A (2004) Decoding Ca²⁺ signals through plant protein kinases. Annual Review of Plant Biology 55, 263-288
- Hatsugai N, Kuroyanagi M, Yamada K, Meshi T, Tsuda S, Kondo M, Nishimura M, Hara-Nishimura I (2004) A plant vacuolar protease, VPE, mediates virus-induced hypersensitive cell death. *Science* 305, 855-858
- Hautecler JJ, Slusegoffart CM, Evens A, Duyckaerts C, Sluse FE (1994) Effect of aspartate and glutamate on the oxoglutarate carrier investigated in rat heart mitochondria and inverted submitochondrial vesicles. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1185**, 153-159
- He C-J, Morgan PW, Drew MC (1992) Enhanced sensitivity to ethylene in nitrogen- or phosphate-starved roots of Zea mays L. during aerenchyma formation. Plant Physiology 98, 137-142
- He C-J, Drew MC, Morgan PW (1994) Induction of enzymes associated with lysigenous aerenchyma formation in roots of *Zea mays* during hypoxia or nitrogen starvation. *Plant Physiology* **105**, 861-865
- He C-J, Morgan PW, Drew MC (1996a) Transduction of an ethylene signal is required for cell death and lysis in the root cortex of maize during aerenchyma formation induced by hypoxia. *Plant Physiology* 112, 463-472
- He C-J, Finlayson SA, Drew MC, Jordan WR, Morgan PW (1996b) Ethylene biosynthesis during aerenchyma formation in roots of *Zea mays* subjectted to mechanical impedance and hypoxia. *Plant Physiology* 112, 1679-1685
- Huang B, Johnson JW, Nesmith S, Bridges DC (1994) Growth, physiological and anatomical responses of two wheat genotypes to waterlogging and nutrient supply. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 45, 193-202
- Ichimura (2002) Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in plants: a new nomenclature. Trends in Plant Science 7, 301-308
- Igamberdiev AU, Baron K, Manac'h-Little N, Stoimenova M, Hill R (2005) The haemoglobin/nitric oxide cycle: Involvement in flooding stress and effects on hormone signalling. *Annals of Botany* 96, 557-564
- Igamberdiev AU, Seregelyes C, Manac'h N, Hill RD (2004) NADHdependent metabolism of nitric oxide in alfalfa root cultures expressing barley hemoglobin. *Planta* 219, 95-102
- Igamberdiev AU, Hill R (2004) Nitrate, NO and haemoglobin in plant adaptation to hypoxia: an alternative to classic fermentation pathways. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 2473-2482
- Jackson MB, Fenning TM, Drew MC, Saker LR (1985a) Stimulation of ethylene production and gas-space (aerenchyma) formation in adventitious roots of Zea mays L. by small partial pressures of oxygen. *Planta* 165, 486-492
- Jackson MB, Fenning TM, Jenkins W (1985b) Aerenchyma (gas-space) formation in adventitious roots of rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) is not controlled by ethylene or small partial pressures of oxygen. *Journal of Experimental Botanv* 36, 1566-1572
- Jackson MB, Hall KC (1993) Polyamine content and action in roots of Zea mays L. in relation to aerenchyma development. Annals of Botany 72, 569-575
- Jackson M, Armstrong W (1999) Formation of aerenchyma and the processes of plant ventilation in relation to soil flooding and submergence. *Plant Biol*ogy 1, 274-287
- Jacob T, Ritchie S, Assmann SM, Gilroy S (1999) Abscisic acid signal transduction in guard cells is mediated by phospholipase D activity. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA 96, 12192-12197
- Jauh GY, Fischer AM, Grimes HD, Ryan CAJ, Rogers JC (1998) Tonoplast intrinsic protein defines unique plant vacuole functions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 12995-12999
- Jauh GY, Phillips TE, Rogers JC (1999) Tonoplast intrinsic protein isoforms as markers for vacuolar functions. *The Plant Cell* 11, 1867-1882
- Johnson KD, Herman EM, Chrispeels MJ (1989) An abundant, highly conserved tonoplast protein in seeds. *Plant Physiology* 91, 1006-1013
- Jones A (2000) Does the plant mitochondrion integrate cellular stress and regulate programmed cell death? *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 225-230
- Jones A (2001) Programmed cell death in development and defence. *Plant Physiology* 125, 94-97
- Jones M, Shen JJ, Fu Y, Li H, Yang Z, Grierson CS (2002) The Arabidopsis Rop2 GTPase is a positive regulator of both root hair initiation and tip growth. *The Plant Cell* 14, 763-776
- Justin SHFW, Armstrong W (1987) The anatomical characteristics of roots and plant response to soil flooding. New Phytologist 106, 465-495
- Kawai M, Samarajeewa PK, Barrero RA, Nishiguchi M, Uchimiya H (1998) Cellular dissection of the degradation pattern of cortical cell death during aerenchyma formation of rice roots. *Planta* 204, 277-287
- Kawase M (1979) Role of cellulase in aerenchyma development in sunflower. American Journal of Botany 66, 183-190
- Kawase M (1981) Effect of ethylene on aerenchyma development. American Journal of Botany 68, 651-658
- Keller T, Damude HG, Werner D, Doerner P, Dixon RA, Lamb C (1998) A plant homolog of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase gp91ph_x subunit gene encodes a plasma membrane protein with Ca²⁺ binding motifs. *The Plant Cell*

10, 255-266

- Kende H (1993) Ethylene biosynthesis. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 44, 283-307
- Kesseler A, Diolez P, Brinkmann K, Brand MD (1992) Characterization of the control of respiration in potato-tuber mitochondria using the top-down approach of metabolic control analysis. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 210, 775-784
- Kinoshita T, Yamada K, Hiraiwa N, Nishimura M, Hara-Nishimura I (1999) Vacuolar processing enzyme is up-regulated in the lytic vacuoles of vegetative tissues during senescence and under various stresses conditions. *Plant Journal* **19**, 43-53
- Klionsky DJ, Emr SD (2000) Cell biology: autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. *Science* **290**, 1717-1721
- Konings H (1982) Ethylene-promoted formation of aerenchyma in seedling roots of Zea mays L. under aerated and non-aerated conditions. *Physiologia Plantarum* 54, 119-124
- Konings H, Verschuren G (1980) Formation of aerenchyma in roots of Zea mays in aerated solutions, and its relation to nutrient supply. Plant Physiology 49, 265-270
- Kovtun Y, Chiu W-L, Tena G, Sheen J (2000) Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 2940-2945
- Kowaltowski AJ, Castilho RF, Grijalba MT, Bechara EJ, Vercesi AE (1996) Effect of inorganic phosphate concentration on the nature of inner mitochondrial membrane alterations mediated by Ca²⁺ ions. A proposed model for phosphate-stimulated lipid peroxidation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 2929-2934
- Kozela C, Regan S (2003) How plants make tubes. Trends in Plant Science 8, 159-164
- Kroemer G (1997) Mitochondrial implication in apoptosis: towards an endosymbiont hypothesis of apoptosis evolution. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 4, 443-456
- Kuriyama H (1999) Loss of tonoplast integrity programmed in tracheary element differentiation. *Plant Physiology* 121, 763-774
- Kuriyama H, Fukuda H (2002) Developmental programmed cell death in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5, 568-573
- Laan P, Berrevoets MJ, Lythe S, Armstrong W, Blom CWPM (1989) Root morphology and aerenchyma formation as indicators of the flood-tolerance of *Rumex* species. *Journal of Ecology* 77, 693-703
- Laloi C, Apel K, Danon A (2004) Reactive oxygen signalling: the latest news. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 7, 323-328
- Lam E, Pontier D, del Pozo O (1999) Die and let live: programmed cell death in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **2**, 502-507
- Lamb C, Dixon RA (1997) The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 48, 251-275
- Larsen O, Nilsen HG, Aarnes H (1986) Response of young barley plants to waterlogging, as related to concentration of ethylene and ethane. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **122**, 365-372
- Lecourieux D, Rajeva R, Pugin A (2006) Calcium in plant defence-signalling pathways. New Phytologist 171, 249-269
- Lee SH, Chae TK, Kim SH, Shin SH, Cho BH, Kang BG, Lee WS (1998) Ethylene-mediated phospholipid catabolism pathway in glucose-starved carrot suspension cells. *Plant Physiology* 116, 223-229
- Leshem YY, Pinchasov Y (2000) Non-invasive photoacoustic spectroscopic determination of relative endogenous nitric oxide and ethylene content stoichiometry during the ripening of strawberries *Fragaria anannasa* (Dush.) and avocados *Persea americana* (Mill.). *Journal of Experimental Botany* **51**, 1471-1473
- Leshem YY, Wills RBH, Ku VVV (1998) Evidence for the function of the free radical gas – nitric oxide (NO) – as an endogenous maturation and sensecence regulating factor in higher plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 36, 825-833
- Liu Y, Zhang S (2004) Phosphorylation of 1-aminocyclopropane-1- carboxylic acid synthase by MPK6, a stress-responsive mitogen-activated protein kinase, induces ethylene biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 16, 3386-3399
- Lorbiecke R, Sauter M (1999) Adventitious root growth and cell-cycle induction in deepwater rice. *Plant Physiology* **119**, 21-29
- Lindermayr C, Saalbach G, Durner J (2005) Proteomic identification of Snitrosylated proteins in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 137, 921-930
- Manac'h-Little N, Igamberdiev AU, Hill RD (2005) Hemoglobin expression affects ethylene production in maize cell cultures. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 43, 485-489
- McPhail LC, Waite KA, Regier DS, Nixon JB, Qualliotine-Mann D, Zhang WX, Wallin R, Sergeant S (1999) A novel protein kinase target for the lipid second messenger phosphatidic acid. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1439, 277-290
- Michael W, Cholodova VP, Ehwald R (1999) Gas and liquids in intercellular spaces of maize roots. Annals of Botany 84, 665-673
- Mittler R, Lam E (1995) In situ detection of nDNA fragmentation during the differentiation of tracheary elements in higher plants. Plant Physiology 108, 489-493
- Mittler R, Shulaev V (2004) Programmed cell death in plants: future perspectives, applications, and methods. In: Gray J (Ed) Programmed Cell Death in

Plants, Blackwell Publishing/CRC Press, Oxford/London, pp 251-264 Moore AL, Dry IB, Wiskich JT (1991) Regulation of electron transport in

- plant mitochondria under state-4 conditions. *Plant Physiology* **95**, 34-40 **Mori IC, Schroeder JI** (2004) Reactive oxygen species activation of plant Ca²⁺
- channels. A signaling mechanism in polar growth, hormone transduction, stress signaling, and hypothetically mechanotransduction. *Plant Physiology* **135**, 702-708
- Munnik T, Arisz SA, de Vrije T, Musgrave A (1995) G protein activation stimulates phospholipase D signaling in plants. *The Plant Cell* 7, 2197-2210
- Neill SJ, Desikan R, Hancock JT (2002) Hydrogen peroxide signalling. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5, 388-395
- Neill SJ, Desikan R, Hancock JT (2003) Nitric oxide signalling in plants. New Phytologist 159, 11-35
- **Obara K, Kuriyama H, Fukuda H** (2001) Direct evidence of active and rapid nuclear degradation triggered by vacuole rupture during programmed cell death in Zinnia. *Plant Physiology* **125**, 615-626
- Pagnussat GC, Lanteri ML, Lombardo MC, Lamattina L (2004) Nitric oxide mediates the indole acetic acid induction activation of a mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade involved in adventitious root development. *Plant Physiology* 135, 279-286
- **Pappan K, Austin-Brown S, Chapman KD, Wang X** (1998) Substrate selectivities and lipid modulation of phospholipase $D\alpha$, β and γ from plants. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **353**, 131-140
- Pappan K, Wang X (1999) Plant phospholipase D is an acidic-phospholipase active at near-physiological Ca²⁺ concentrations. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 368, 347-353
- Paris N, Stanley CM, Jones RL, Rogers JC (1996) Plant cells contain two functionally distinct vacuolar compartments. *Cell* 85, 563-572
- Peng HP, Chan CS, Shih MC, Yang SF (2001) Signaling events in the hypoxic induction of alcohol dehydrogenase gene in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiology* 126, 742-749
- Peschke VM, Sachs MM (1994) Characterization and expression of anaerobically induced maize transcripts. *Plant Physiology* 104, 387-394
- Petronilli V, Costantini P, Scorrano L, Colonna R, Passamonti S, Bernardi P (1994) The voltage sensor of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore is tuned by the oxidation-reduction state of vicinal thiols. Increase of the gating potential by oxidants and its reversal by reducing agents. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269, 16638-16642
- Qin W, Pappan K, Wang X (1997) Molecular heterogeneity of phospholipase D (PLD): cloning of PLDγ and regulation of plant PLDγ, -β and -α by polyphosphoinositides and calcium. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272, 28267-28273
- Rawyler A, Arpagaus S, Braendle R (2002) Impact of oxygen stress and energy availability on membrane stability of plant cells. *Annals of Botany* 90, 499-507
- Raz V, Fluhr R (1993) Ethylene signal is transduced via protein phosphorylation events in plants. *The Plant Cell* 5, 523-530
- Rentel MC, Knight MR (2004) Oxidative stress-induced calcium signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 135, 1471-1479
- Rentel MC, Lecourieux D, Quaked F, Usher SL, Petersen L, Okamoto H, Knight H, Peck SC, Grierson CS, Hirt H, Knight MR (2004) OX11 kinase is necessary for oxidative burst-mediated signalling in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 427, 858-861
- Ritchie S, Gilroy S (2000) Abscisic acid stimulation of phospholipase D in the barley aleurone is G-protein-mediated and localized to the plasma membrane. *Plant Physiology* **124**, 693-702
- Robinson MJ, Cobb MH (1997) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 9, 180-186
- Saab IN, Sachs MM (1995) Complete cDNA and genomic sequence encoding a flooding-responsive gene from maize (*Zea mays L.*) homologous to xyloglucan endotransglycosylase. *Plant Physiology* **108**, 439-440
- Saab IN, Sachs MM (1996) A flooding-induced xyloglucan endotransglycosylase homolog in maize is responsive to ethylene and associated with aerenchyma. *Plant Physiology* 112, 385-391
- Sachs MM, Subbaiah CC, Saab IN (1996) Anaerobic gene expression and flooding tolerance in maize. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 1-5
- Sagi M, Fluhr R (2001) Superoxide production by plant homologues of the gp91phox NADPH oxidase. Modulation of activity by calcium and by tobacco mosaic virus infection. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1281-1290
- Samuilov VD, Oleskin V, Lagunova EM (2000) Programmed cell death. Biochemistry (Moscow) 65, 873-887
- Sanders D, Pelloux J, Brownlee C, Harper JF (2002) Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. *The Plant Cell*, S401-S417
- Sang Y, Cui D, Wang X (2001) Phospholipase D and phosphatidic acid-mediated generation of superoxide in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1449-1458
- Scorrano L, Petronilli V, Bernardi P (1997) On the voltage dependence of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. A critical appraisal. *The Journal* of Biological Chemistry 272, 12295-12299
- Seago JR JL, Marsh LC, Stevens KJ, Soukup A, Votrubová O, Enstone DE (2005) A re-examination of the root cortex in wetland flowering plants with respect to aerenchyma. *Annals of Botany* **96**, 565-579
- Setter TL, Ellis M, Laureles EV, Ella ES, Senadhira D, Mishra SB, Sarka-

rung S, Datta S (1997) Physiology and genetics of submergence tolerance in rice. Annals of Botany 79 (Suppl. A), 67-77

- Silva MAP, Carnieri EGS, Vercesi AE (1992) Calcium transport by corn mitochondria: evaluation of the role of phosphate. *Plant Physiology* 98, 452-457
- Smirnoff N, Crawford RMM (1983) Variation in the structure and response to flooding of root aerenchyma in some wetland plants. *Annals of Botany* 51, 237-249
- Sozzi GO, Trinchero GD, Fraschina AA (2003) Delayed ripening of 'Bartlett' pears treated with nitric oxide. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotech*nology 78, 899-903
- St-Pierre J, Brand MD, Boutilier RG (2000) Mitochondria as ATP consumers: cellular treason in anoxia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 8670-8674
- Subbaiah CC, Sachs MM (2003) Molecular and cellular adaptations of maize to flooding stress. Annals of Botany 90, 119-127
- Thomson CJ, Armstrong W, Waters I, Greenway H (1990) Aerenchyma formation and associated oxygen movement in seminal and nodal roots of wheat. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 13, 395-403
- Tiwari BS, Belenghi B, Levine A (2002) Oxidative stress increased respiration and generation of reactive oxygen species, resulting in ATP depletion, opening of mitochondrial permeability transition, and programmed cell death. *Plant Physiology* **128**, 1271-1281
- Vandenabeele S, van Der Kelen K, Dat J, Gadjev I, Boonefaes T, Morsa S, Rottiers P, Slooten L, van Montagu M, Zabeau M, Inzé D, van Breusegem F (2003) A comprehensive analysis of hydrogen peroxide-induced gene expression in tobacco. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 100, 16113-16118
- van der Hoorn RAL, Jones JDG (2004) The plant proteolytic machinery and its role in defence. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 7, 400-407
- van der Weele CM, Canny MJ, McCully ME (1996) Water in aerenchyma spaces in roots. A fast diffusion path for solutes. *Plant and Soil* 184, 131-141
- van Doorn WG, Woltering EJ (2005) Many ways to exit? Cell death categories in plants. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 117-122
- Vartapetian BB, Jackson MB (1997) Plant adaptations to anaerobic stress. Annals of Botany 79 (Suppl. A), 3-20
- Visser EJW, Blom CWPM, Voesenek LACJ (1996) Flooding-induced adventitious rooting in *Rumex*: Morphology and development in an ecological perspective. *Acta Botanica Neerlandica* **45**, 17-28
- Visser EJW, Voesenek LACJ (2004) Acclimation to soil flooding sensing and signal-transduction. *Plant and Soil* 254, 197-214
- Vranová E, Inzé D, van Breusegem F (2002) Signal transduction during oxi-

dative stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 53, 1227-1236

- Waite KA, Wallin R, Qualliotine-Mann D, McPhail LC (1997) Phosphatidic acid-mediated phosphorylation of the NADPH oxidase component p47-phox: evidence that phosphatidic acid may activate a novel protein kinase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272, 15569-15578
- Wang X (2005) Regulatory functions of phospholipase D and phosphatidic acid in plant growth, development, and stress responses. *Plant Physiology* 139, 566-573
- Webb J, Armstrong W (1983) The effects of anoxia and carbohydrates on the growth and viability of rice, pea and pumpkin roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 34, 579-603
- Webb J, Jackson MB (1986) A transmission and cryoscaning electron microscopy study of formation of aerenchyma (cortical gas filled space) in adventitious roots of rice (*Oryza sativa*). Journal of Experimental Botany 37, 832-841
- Wendehenne D, Durner J, Klessig DF (2004) Nitric oxide: a new player in plant signalling and defence responses. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 7, 449-455
- Wiengweera A, Greenway H, Thomson CJ (1997) The use of agar nutrient solution to simulate lack of convection in waterlogged soils. *Annals of Botany* 80, 115-123
- Woltering EJ (2004) Death proteases come alive. *Trends in Plant Science* 9, 469-472
- Woolley JT (1983) Maintenance of air in intercellular spaces of plants. Plant Physiology 72, 989-991
- Xiong L, Zhu JK (2001) Abiotic stress signal transduction in plants: Molecular and genetic perspectives. *Physiologia Plantarum* 112, 152-166
- Yang SF, Hoffman NE (1984) Ethylene biosynthesis and its regulation in higher plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 35, 155-189
- Yang T, Poovaiah BW (2002) Hydrogen peroxide homeostasis: activation of plant catalase by calcium/calmodulin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 99, 4097-4102
- Yoshimori T (2004) Autophagy: a regulated bulk degradation process inside cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 313, 453-458
- Yu XH, Perdue TD, Heimer YM, Jones AM (2002) Mitochondrial involvement in tracheary element programmed cell death. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 9, 189-198
- **Zheng L, Krishnamoorthi R, Zolkiewski M, Wang X** (2000) Distinct Ca^{2+} binding properties of the novel C2 domains of plant phospholipase D α and β . *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 19700-19706